UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FIFTH O RCU T

No. 92-7644

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,
VERSUS
DONALD WADE THOVAS,
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Southern District of Texas

(February 16, 1994)

Before POLI TZ, Chief Judge, REAVLEY, and EMLIO M GARZA, Crcuit
Judges.

EMLIOM GARZA, Crcuit Judge:

The Def endant, Donal d WAde Thonas, was convicted by a jury of
(1) possessing pipe bonbs that were not registered in the National
Firearns Registration and Transfer Record, in violation of 26
US C 8 5861(d) (1988); (2) transferring pipe bonbs, in violation
of 26 U . S.C. 88 5812, 5861(e) and 5871; (3) possessing pipe bonbs
which were not identified by serial nunbers, in violation of 26
US C 85861(i); and (4) conspiring to commt all of the foregoing
substantive offenses.! Thonas appeals, contending that (a) his
conviction is fundanentally unfair, and therefore violates his

right to due process of |aw, because he is being punished for

1 The district court sentenced Thomas to 63 nonths
i npri sonnent .



failing to regi ster pi pe bonbs which the Bureau of Al cohol, Tobacco
and Firearns ("ATF") wll not permt to be registered; and (2) the
evidence is insufficient to support his conviction because the
governnent failed to prove that the ATF woul d have registered the
pi pe bonbs. Finding no reversible error, we affirm
I

Thomas contends that his conviction is fundanentally unfair
because he is being punished for failing to register, and obtain
serial nunbers for, the pipe bonbs which he possessed and
transferred, when the ATF wll not register pipe bonbs.? I n
arguing that the ATF will not permt registration, Thonmas relies
exclusively on the testinony at trial of the governnent's
expl osi ves expert. Agent Waskom was enployed as an expl osive
enforcenent officer for the Expl osi ve Technol ogy Branch of the ATF.
It was his responsibility in that position to "provide technica
support and assistance with regard to the coordination and
admnistration of the federal explosive laws." Wiskom exam ned,
took apart, and exploded several of Thonas's pipe bonbs before
testifying, and his testinony primarily concerned the construction

and function of those bonbs. However, Waskom was asked on direct

2 Cf. United States v. Dalton, 960 F.2d 121, 124 (10th Cr
1992) (vacating unregistered firearm conviction on due process
grounds, where "[i]t [was] undi sputed that the governnent [woul d]
not permt the registration of" the weapon in question) ("Because
the crinmes of which Dalton was convicted . . . have as an essenti al
elenment his failure to do an act that he is incapable of
perform ng, his fundanental fairness argunent is persuasive.").
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exam nation, "do you know of any case where a pipe bonb has been
granted a serial nunber?" Waskomreplied, "None whatsoever."

Thomas noved for a judgnent of acquittal before the district
court, arguing (as he does on appeal ) that Waskom s af orenenti oned
testinony indicates that the ATF will not register pipe bonbs such
as the ones he possessed, and that his conviction for failure to
register those bonbs is therefore fundanentally wunfair and
violative of his right to due process. The district court denied
Thomas's notion, refusing to find that the ATF woul d not register
t he pi pe bonbs, since no evidence supported such a finding.?

We reviewthe district court's factual determ nation for clear

error.* W will not find a district court's ruling to be clearly

3 The district court's order denying the notion for
j udgnent of acquittal stated:

Def endant argues that he is factually if not statutorily
prohibited from registering plastic pipe bonbs.
Def endant points to the testinony of Al cohol, Tobacco,
and Firearns ("ATF") Special Agent Tom Waskomt o support
[ hi s] argunent. :

The Court disagrees. . . . This Court did not
recei ve evidence regardi ng ATF |icensing procedures and
declines to nmake the finding requested by defendant|[].

Record on Appeal, vol. 1, at 74-75.

4 See United States v. Deshaw, 974 F.2d 667, 669 (5th Cr
1992) ("On appeal the district court's denial of a notion to
di sm ss the indictnent on the ground of doubl e jeopardy is revi ewed
de novo. W accept the underlying factual findings of the district
court unless clearly erroneous."” (footnote omtted) (citing United
States v. Weks, 870 F.2d 267, 269 (5th Cr.), cert. denied, 493
UsS 827, 110 S. &t. 92, 107 L. Ed. 2d 57 (1989)); United States v.
Luttrell, 609 F.2d 1190, 1192 (5th G r. 1980) (uphol ding denial of
defendant's notion to dismss indictnment, where district court's
finding that prosecutor did not engage in msconduct was not
clearly erroneous); United States v. Cathey, 591 F. 2d 268, 272 (5th
Cr. 1979) (holding that crimnal defendant was not entitled to
di sm ssal of indictnment because district court did not conmt clear
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erroneous unless we are left wth the definite and firmconviction
that a m stake has been commtted. United States v. Mtchell, 964
F.2d 454, 457-58 (5th Cr. 1992). W find no such error here
Waskom s testinony does not indicate that he was qualified to
di scuss the ATF' s registration policies, and he did not comment on
those policies. Waskomnerely testified that he was not aware of
an i nstance where a serial nunber had been granted for a pi pe bonb.
Waskom did not testify that, as a matter of policy, the ATF never
registers pipe bonbs, and nothing in the record required the
district court to draw that inference from Waskonis statenent.
Therefore, the district court's refusal to construe Waskonis
statenent as a statenent that the ATF will not register pipe bonbs
was not clearly erroneous, and Thomas's argunent is without nerit.
I

Thomas also clains that the evidence is insufficient to
support his conviction because the governnent failed to prove that
t he pi pe bonbs whi ch he possessed and transferred were regi sterable
with the ATF. This claimis without nerit because Thomas has
failed to showthat registrability of the weapons is an el enent of
any of the offenses of which he was convi cted.

26 U S.C. § 5861(d) nakes it an offense "to recei ve or possess
a firearmwhich is not registered . . . in the National Firearns
Regi stration and Transfer Record." 1d. On its face, 8§ 5861(d)

does not require that the firearm be registerable wth the ATF.

error in finding that "there was no evidence that [governnent
witness] " deliberately attenpted to nmislead' " the grand jury which
returned the indictnent).
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See id. Furthernore, we have stated that the statute "requires
only that the transferee not receive or possess unregistered
firearnms." United States v. Sedigh, 658 F.2d 1010, 1012 (5th Cr
1981) (citing 26 U.S.C. § 5861(d)), cert. denied, 455 U. S. 921, 102
S. &. 1279, 71 L. Ed. 2d 462 (1982).°

26 U S.C. 8 5861(i) nmakes it unlawful "to receive or possess
a firearmwhich is not identified by a serial nunber as required

by" Chapter 53 of the Internal Revenue Code.? By its terns
8 5861(i) plainly does not require the governnment to prove that the
firearmis one for which a serial nunber would be granted. Neither
do judicial decisions applying 8§ 5861(i) indicate that the
governnment is required to prove that a serial nunber would be
i ssued for the weapon in question. See, e.g., United States v.
Stout, 667 F.2d 1347, 1353 (11th Cir. 1982) (holding that "the
governnent . . . undeniably bore its burden as to the essenti al

elements of 26 U.S.C. 8§ 5861(i)" where the evidence showed that

"the silencers, made by defendants and i n def endants' possessi on at

5 See also U.S. Fifth Grcuit D strict Judges Associ ati on,
Pattern Jury Instructions, Instr. 2.87 (Wst 1990), the pattern
jury instruction for 8 5861(d). That instruction requires the jury
to find that the defendant possessed an unregistered firearm See
id. It does not require a finding that the firearm could have
been regi stered. See id.

6 26 U.S.C. 8§ 5861(i); see id. §8 5842 ("Any firearm
classified as a destructive device [such as a pipe bonb] shall be
identified in such manner as the Secretary may by regulations
prescribe."); 27 CF.R 8 179.102 (stating that firearns shall be
identified by serial nunber, provided that the Secretary may
approve ot her neans of identification for destructive devi ces, upon
application).
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the tinme of their arrest, were not stanped with any identifying
mar ki ngs").

26 U.S.C. 8§ 5861(e) makes it an offense to transfer a firearm
in violation of the provisions of" Chapter 53 of the Interna
Revenue Code. In United States v. Garrett, 583 F. 2d 1381 (5th Gr
1978), we held that a violation of § 5861(e) was established where
a firearmwas transferred either (1) without the paynent of the
transfer tax required by 26 U S C. § 5811, or (2) wthout the
filing of a transfer application in conformty with 26 U S. C
8§ 5812. See id. at 1388. W did not interpret 8§ 5861(e) to
require a showing that the weapon in question could have been
regi stered or issued a serial nunber.

In summary, we are not aware of any cases which hold that
registrability is an essential elenment of any of the offenses of
whi ch Thomas was convi ct ed. Nei t her does Thonmas offer any
authority for his claimthat the governnent was required to prove
registrability. Thomas nerely states that "his conviction is based
on insufficient evidence as to the issue of whether the devices in
question are in fact registerable, [and] as United States wv.
Daniels, [973 F.2d 272 (4th Gr. 1992), cert. denied, = US |
113 S. . 1064, 122 L. Ed. 2d 369 (1993)] points out, this is an
essential elenment of the offense of which he was charged.”
Contrary to this assertion, Daniels provides no support for the
proposition that the governnent nust prove that pipe bonbs are
registerable with the ATF to convict a defendant for their

possession and transfer. Daniels holds that the essential el enents
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of aviolation of 26 U.S.C. §8 5861(e) are (1) the know ng transfer;
(2) of afirearm (3) in violation of the provisions of Chapter 53
of Title 26. ld. at 275. Daniels does not address the
registration and serial nunber requirenents at issue here, and
certainly does not hold that registrability is an essenti al el enent
of any of the of fenses of which Thonmas was convicted. W therefore
are not persuaded that registrability is an essential elenent of
any of the offenses of which Thomas was convicted, and his
sufficiency argunent fails.
11

For the foregoing reasons, we AFFIRM



